IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KAYLE BARRINGTON BATES,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 67,422

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

JAN 6 1993
CLERK SUPREME COURT
Amey

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
POST OFFICE BOX 671
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KAYLE BARRINGTON BATES, :
 Appellant, :
v. :
STATE OF FLORIDA, :
 Appellee. :
_____ :

CASE NO. 67,422

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

KAYLE BATES is the appellant in this capital case. This is the second time this case is before this Court; the first time this Court remanded for resentencing. Bates v. State, 465 So.2d 490 (Fla. 1985). The record of the resentencing now on appeal consists of two volumes and references to them will be indicated by the letters "RR." References to the original record on appeal will be indicated by either "R," or "T."

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Bay County on July 6, 1982, charged Kayle Bates with first degree murder (by premeditation or during the course of a felony), kidnapping, robbery, and sexual battery (R-1-3). Bates' attorney filed a motion to suppress a statement taken from him by the police (R-159-160) and a motion for change of venue (R-164-167). The court denied the motion to suppress (T-1147), and it deferred ruling on the motion for change of venue until trial at which time it denied that motion (T-1375).

Bates was tried before the Honorable W. Fred Turner from January 17-20, 1983, and found guilty by a jury of premeditated first degree murder (R-202), kidnapping, robbery, and attempted sexual battery (R-202-203).

During the penalty phase of the trial, the state presented no additional evidence. Bates took the stand as well as his father (T-952), and both pleaded that the jury recommend mercy (T-954,956). After the court instructed the jury, they returned a recommendation of death (R-210).

The court, following the jury's recommendation, sentenced Bates to death. The court found in aggravation:

1. The murder was committed during the course of a kidnapping, robbery, and attempted sexual battery.
2. The murder was committed for the purpose of preventing or avoiding lawful arrest.
3. The murder was committed for pecuniary gain.

4. The murder was especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel.

5. The murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without a pretense of moral or legal justification.

(R-222-223).

In mitigation, the court found that Bates had no significant history of prior criminal activity (R-224).

On appeal, this Court affirmed Bates' convictions but reversed the sentences and remanded for resentencing as the trial court had impermissibly found that the murder was committed (1) for the purpose of preventing or avoiding lawful arrest, and (2) in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without a pretense of moral or legal justification. Bates v. State, 465 So.2d 490 (Fla. 1985).

Specifically, regarding resentencing, this Court said:

Hence, we vacate the death sentence and remand to the trial court for a reweighing of the valid aggravating circumstances against the mitigating evidence.

Id. at 493.

On remand, before the Honorable W. Fred Turner, Circuit Judge for the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit, Bates presented additional mitigating evidence. He called three witnesses who testified about his childhood and youth. He also presented evidence of his military service record. Finally, he presented the testimony of a psychologist who examined Bates for purposes of resentencing.

The court resentenced Bates to death (RR-39-42). In

doing so, it read the same sentencing order it had previously read without the two impermissible aggravating factors. The court made no mention in the order of the mitigating evidence Bates had presented at the resentencing hearing.

Accordingly, the court in resentencing Bates to death found in aggravation that:

1. The murder was committed during the course of a kidnapping, robbery, and attempted sexual battery.
2. The murder was committed for pecuniary gain.
3. The murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel.

(RR-40-41).

In mitigation, the court found only that Bates had no significant history of prior criminal activity (RR-41-42).

This appeal follows.

III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Shortly after 1:00 p.m. on June 14, 1982, Geraldine Gilchrist called the State Farm Insurance Agency Office in Lynn Haven, near Panama City (T-304). Janet White answered the phone in an excited voice (T-308) and suddenly started screaming (T-305). The phone was hung up (T-305), but, because of what she had heard, Gilchrist called the Lynn Haven Police Department (T-305-306).

A few minutes after 1:00 p.m., Jim Dickerson, an agent with the State Farm Insurance Company, returned from lunch to his office (T-312-313). He saw White's car and noticed that something was wrong as he walked into his office (T-314). The drapes in his office had been pulled, and his calculator unplugged, and his sliding glass door unlocked and left slightly open (T-315). As Dickerson returned to the front of the store, the police arrived (T-336).

Several other policemen arrived, and they began to search the area. About 50 steps behind the agency is a wooded area, and hidden among some bushes (T-417) they found White's body (T-417). A lot of blood covered her face, and her clothing was ripped (T-418-419). She had been stabbed twice in the chest (T-440); there were several bruises about her head (front and back), eyes, and legs (T-444). She had an abrasion about her neck (T-440). Also while there was no trauma about the vagina, there was evidence of sperm in her vagina (T-463).

As the police secured the scene, Bates walked out of the woods carrying some cattails (T-364,365). An officer stopped him, asked for some identification, and then put him into his police car (T-367). Bates was wet, his clothing muddy, and the left side of his shirt looked like it had blood on it (T-365). He said that he wanted to go to his delivery truck which was parked near a tree behind the insurance agency (T-366). Bates worked as a truck driver for a Tallahassee paper company and his delivery route included stops in Lynn Haven and Panama City (T-368,778). On this day, he drove an 18 foot "Air National" truck (T-379).

Bates was taken to a police station, read his Miranda rights, then questioned about the murder (T-569-570). Initially, he denied any knowledge of the murder, saying that he had parked his delivery truck far behind the office to avoid being spotted by a supervisor and to eat lunch and pick some cattails for the house he was living in (T-570,593). The blood stains he said came from his gums and were due to a gum disease he had (T-571).

Officer McKeithen, the interrogator, told Bates to empty his pockets and Bates laid a woman's ring on his desk (T-573). Janet White's husband identified the ring as belonging to his wife (T-574). Bates then admitted stopping at the agency but only to ask for directions (T-575-576). White could not help him, and as he left, he found the ring in front of the office (T-576). He went

into the woods to get the cat tails (T-576), and as he came out he saw White's body (T-576). He went to it, panicked when he saw she was dead, and ran (T-577).

When confronted with some additional evidence, Bates changed his story. He said that he saw a white man struggling with White, and when he attempted to help her, the man hit him in the lip (T-609). Bates then ran into the woods (T-609).

McKeithen confronted Bates again (T-610), and Bates told his final story. He said that when he went inside the office for information, White initially acted friendly, but for some unknown reason, she began throwing things and getting mad (T-611). She squirted some mace on his arm (T-634), and he grabbed for the mace, and the two began to struggle (T-611). Somehow, she got a pair of scissors and during the struggle, she accidentally stabbed herself (T-611). Bates also admitted trying, but failing, to have sexual intercourse with White (T-638-639). Bates, however, denied taking the ring from White's hand (T-642).

At trial, Bates denied making the statements (T-803). He said that after he had talked with White, he had parked his delivery truck in some shade behind the agency, eaten his lunch, and gone to sleep. When he awoke, he checked his delivery tickets and then walked back to the agency to ask to use the telephone (T-784-786). Inside, he noted the disarray and left (T-790). He walked around back, found White's body, panicked and fled (T-792).

IV SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Upon remand for resentencing, the trial court heard the testimony of a psychologist, Dr. Elizabeth McMahon and several other witnesses who testified on Bates' behalf. Dr. McMahon unequivocally said that when Bates committed this murder:

1. He was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance.
2. His capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired.
3. It was not premeditated.

In resentencing Bates to death the court made no mention of Dr. McMahon's testimony, and in fact, it read its original sentencing order, less the two aggravating factors this Court said were not proven.

The court orally rejected Dr. McMahon's testimony because her view of the death penalty "somehow" colored her opinion, and she did not have a thorough factual understanding of the case. As a matter of fact, the court was wrong, and also as a matter of law the court erred.

Dr. McMahon's views on the death penalty did not prevent her from not recommending clemency in 15 of the 17 clemency hearings she conducted for men on death row. Moreover, neither the prosecutor or the court made any effort to show how her purported bias in any way effected her opinion.

Dr. McMahon had made a thorough review of the facts in

in this case. Although she had not seen the photographs admitted at trial and talked with the investigators, she had read the presentence investigation report, this Court's opinion, and Bates' initial and reply briefs. Specifically, the statement of the facts in the initial brief refer to the several statements Bates had given when interrogated.

By failing to consider Dr. McMahon's testimony, the court erred as a matter of law. In matters such as these, the normal standard of review is to determine if there is an abuse of discretion. Here, Dr. McMahon's testimony was unrebutted and uncontradicted, and as such, this Court cannot simply look to see if the trial court abused its discretion. Instead this Court must determine if the trial court erred as a matter of law in not considering her testimony.

Moreover, even if the trial court can somehow be said to have considered her testimony, that fact is not sufficiently clear for purposes of appellate review.

Finally, the unrebutted evidence clearly shows that two statutory mitigating factors exist as well as the mitigating factor of Bates' non-criminal lifestyle. The trial court, however, completely ignored these mitigating factors and found only the same one it had originally found, that Bates had no significant criminal history. Ignoring all this new mitigating evidence, however, was error.

V ARGUMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

THE COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW AND FACT IN NOT CONSIDERING THE MITIGATING EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT BATES' RESENTENCING HEARING.

At the resentencing hearing, Bates called a Dr. Elizabeth McMahon, a psychologist, to testify about his mental and emotional makeup. Without objection from the state (RR-70), the court accepted Dr. McMahon as an expert in forensic psychology (RR-70). While her testimony will be discussed in greater detail later, part of her unrebutted testimony was that (1) Bates committed this murder while under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance (RR-85), (2) the capacity of Bates to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law as substantially impaired (RR-85-86), and (3) Bates did not commit this murder with a premeditated intent (RR-86). The court's sentencing order made no mention of these factors and was in fact the same sentencing order it had originally sentenced Bates to death, less the two aggravating factors this Court said were not proven (RR-39-42). Bates v. State, 465 So.2d 490 (Fla. 1985). Although the court said it considered all the mitigating evidence (RR-41), nowhere did it discuss why it had rejected Dr. McMahon's testimony, and only orally

and at the sentencing hearing did it say why it rejected, as a matter of law, Dr. McMahon's testimony:

I was a little disappointed in Dr. McMann. First of all, I think her view of the death penalty somehow colors her objectivity in the matter. Secondly, I would think that any expert in that field would want to acquaint herself thoroughly with the facts of the case, including coming and looking at the evidence introduced at trial and this sort of thing. She said she contented herself with briefs filed, certain other papers and then in talking to Mr. Bates. I would have hoped that she had made a rather thorough basis for her opinion.

(RR-163).

Legally and factually, the court was incorrect in totally rejecting the most significant evidence that would have explained Bates' character, and the court's flimsy reasons for ignoring Dr. McMahon's testimony do not withstand scrutiny.

A. The Standard of Review and its Limits

Normally, a trial court has discretion in believing or rejecting an expert's opinion. Jennings v. State, 453 So.2d 1109 (Fla. 1984); Stano v. State, 460 So.2d 890 (Fla. 1984). As Jennings and Stano demonstrate, the exercise of that discretion is virtually immune from attack when the trial court is presented with conflicting expert opinion. In those cases, the many experts significantly contradicted and rebutted each other's evaluations of Jennings and Stano. In upholding the trial

court's rejection of the two statutory mitigating factors, Section 921.141(6)(b),(f), Florida Statutes (1983), in those cases, this Court said that it is the trial court's duty to resolve conflicting decisions, and an appellate court will not reverse if there is substantial, competent evidence to support a trial court's ruling. Accord Mason v. State, 438 So.2d 374 (Fla. 1983); Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1984). While Bates accepts this holding, this case differs from the normal situation in that Dr. McMahon's testimony was un rebutted, uncontradicted, and uncontested.¹ In such instances, the trial court cannot simply ignore such un rebutted evidence.

A finding which rests on conclusions drawn from undisputed evidence, rather than on conflicts in the testimony, does not carry with it the same conclusiveness as a finding resting on probative disputed facts, but is rather in the nature of a legal conclusion. 3 Am.Jur., 471. When the appellate court is convinced that an express or inferential finding of the trial court is without support of any substantial evidence, is clearly against the weight of the evidence or that the trial court has misapplied the law to the established facts, then the decision is "clearly erroneous" and the appellate court will reverse because the trial court has "failed to give legal effect to the evidence" in its entirety.

Holland v. Gross, 89 So.2d 255, 258 (Fla. 1956)

¹McMahon's testimony was uncontested in that the state presented no witnesses to challenge it even though the trial court offered to let the state present rebuttal evidence (RR-63). While the state did cross-examine Dr. McMahon, she never retreated or modified her evaluation of Bates, and in fact, the state's cross-examination and the court's examination appear to be nothing more than arguing with the witness. See e.g. RR-96,106-107.

* * *

Certainly, the trial court is not absolutely bound by expert opinion as to competency. On the other hand, courts should not ignore uncontested expert testimony particularly when strongly supported by other relevant evidence. Lane v. State, 388 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 1980).

Trucci v. State, 438 So.2d 396, 397 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

See also Redondo v. Jessup, 426 So.2d 1146, 1147 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). This exception to the normal appellate standard is especially compelling in capital cases with its extreme concern for imposing a correct sentence. The trial court should impose a sentence of death only if after weighing the aggravating and mitigating factors, it has found death the appropriate sentence.

It must be emphasized that the procedure to be followed by the trial judges and juries is not a mere counting process of X number of aggravating circumstances and Y number of mitigating circumstances, but rather a reasoned judgment as to what factual situations require the imposition of death and which can be satisfied by life imprisonment in light of the totality of the circumstances present.

* * *

Thus, the discretion charged in Furman v. Georgia, supra, can be controlled and channeled until the sentencing process becomes a matter of reasoned judgment rather than an exercise in discretion at all.

State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1, 10 (Fla. 1972).

Thus because this is a capital case and because Dr.

McMahon's testimony was uncontradicted, the normal abuse of discretion standard is inapplicable. Instead, the court here erred as a matter of law in rejecting Dr. McMahon's expert opinion because her view of the death penalty "somehow colors her objectivity in the matter," and she had not made herself thoroughly acquainted with the facts of the case (RR-167). Holland, supra. As such, this Court is now correcting an erroneous application of a rule of law rather than looking for an abuse of discretion. Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1980). The rule of law that the trial court ignored was that it must consider all relevant mitigating evidence. Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 57 L.Ed.2d 973, 98 S.Ct. 2954 (1978), Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 71 L.Ed. 2d 1, 102 S.Ct. 869 (1982). Consequently, the normal test for an abuse of discretion, whether reasonable men could differ as to the propriety of the court's action, id. at 1203, is inapplicable. Instead, if the trial court here applied the incorrect rule, reversal is mandated.

B. The Court was factually incorrect regarding McMahon's familiarity with the case and her "opposition" to the death penalty as affecting her opinion.

1. McMahon's familiarity with the case.

During the state's cross-examination and the court's examination of Dr. McMahon, Dr. McMahon admitted she had not seen the photographs of the victim (RR-81), talked with

investigators in the case, or read Bates' statements when questioned by the police (RR-88). Dr. McMahon, however, was familiar with the facts of this case. She had the presentence investigation report (RR-88) which was gathered from the records of the clerk of court and the state attorney's office (see PSI at page 1). She also had a copy of this Court's opinion which included the trial court's findings in support of the death sentence (RR-87). Finally, she had Bates' initial and reply briefs which gave a factual summary of the events surrounding this murder (RR-87-88). Significantly, the statement of the facts in Bates' initial brief told of the police officer's interrogation of Bates and Bates' subsequent alterations to his story. See Bates' initial brief at pages 5-6. To say that Dr. McMahon did not have a thorough factual basis for her opinion is simply in error.² She certainly had as much information as she would have had had she conducted a pretrial competency hearing.

Moreover, Bates is unaware of any case which says that a psychologist must talk with investigators or view photographs of the victim or crime scene in order to render a valid opinion. In a sense, the actual facts of the case assume minor importance as the object of the examination is the defendant's mental condition and not to determine the

²Apparently, the trial court never read what Dr. McMahon had reviewed.

truth of what he said. Jones v. State, 289 So.2d 725, 727 (Fla. 1974). The cases Bates has found uniformly agree that the personal interview is a prerequisite in order to render a valid opinion of a subject's mental condition. Jones, Murphy v. State, 252 So.2d 385 (Fla. 3d DCA 1971), Rollerson v. United States, 343 F.2d 269, 274 (CA DC 1964) ("The basic tool of psychiatric study remains the personal interview..."). See, Bonnie and Slobogin, *The Role of Mental Health Professionals in the Criminal Process: The Case for Informed Speculation*, 66 Va. L.Rev. 427, 496 (1980).

Recently, the American Bar Association adopted criminal justice mental health standards, and Standard 7-3.11 presents the qualifications for testifying about a person's mental condition. Of particular significance is subparagraph (a)(iii):

STANDARD 7-3.11. EXPERT WITNESSES: QUALIFICATIONS FOR TESTIFYING ABOUT A PERSON'S MENTAL CONDITION.

(a) QUALIFICATIONS. EXPERT OPINION TESTIMONY ABOUT A PERSON'S MENTAL CONDITION IS DESIGNED TO ASSIST THE TRIAL FACTFINDER. BECAUSE SUCH TESTIMONY OFTEN ASSUMES EXTRAORDINARY IMPORTANCE IN CASES THAT INVOLVE A PERSON'S MENTAL CONDITION. NO WITNESS SHOULD BE QUALIFIED BY THE COURT TO PRESENT EXPERT OPINION TESTIMONY ON A PERSON'S MENTAL CONDITION UNLESS THE COURT DETERMINES THAT THE WITNESS:

* * *

(iii) HAS PERFORMED AN ADEQUATE EVALUATION, INCLUDING A PERSONAL INTERVIEW WITH THE INDIVIDUAL WHOSE MENTAL CONDITION

IS IN QUESTION, RELEVANT TO THE LEGAL
AND CLINICAL MATTER(S) UPON WHICH THE
WITNESS IS BEING CALLED TO TESTIFY.

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