IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAN SI 1986

KAYLE BARRINGTON BATES,

Appellant,

ν.

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO.: 67,422

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GREGORY G. COSTAS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301

(904) 488-0290

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant seeks reversal and remand of this cause claiming, essentially, that the trial court erred as a matter of law and fact in not considering the mitigating evidence presented at his resentencing hearing. Appellee first argues that since the cause was remanded to the trial court just for a reweighing of the valid aggravating circumstances against the mitigating evidence instead of a new sentencing hearing, Appellant's claim should be rejected because the trial judge was not required to permit new mitigating evidence to be put on and if put on, he was not required to afford it any weight as mitigating circumstances.

Appellee alternatively argues that Appellant's suggestion that the trial judge did not consider his mitigating evidence is clearly refuted by the record and therefore leaves him without any basis to rely on Lockett v. Ohio, infra and Eddings v. Oklahoma, infra, as controlling the disposition of this cause. Appellee further argues that Appellant's real claims, going to the trial court's treatment of expert testimony and the trial court's failure to find mitigating circumstances urged by Appellant are devoid of merit and accordingly are not grounds for reversal.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE TRIAL JUDGE'S TREATMENT OF EXPERT TESTIMONY, HIS FAILURE TO FIND MITIGATING FACTORS URGED BY APPELLANT, AND HIS CONCOMITANT REIMPOSITION OF A SENTENCE OF DEATH WAS NOT ERROR. (Restated by Appellee.).

Appellant, claiming that the trial court erred as a matter of law and fact in not considering the mitigating evidence presented at his resentencing hearing, seeks reversal of his death sentence and remand of the cause either for yet another sentencing hearing or with instructions to impose a sentence of life without the possibility of parole for twenty-five years. In support of his position, Appellant advances a host of arguments, none of which compel awarding him the relief he seeks.

Initially, Appellee notes that the trial judge, in an abundance of caution, held a sentencing hearing where Appellant was permitted to offer evidence in mitigation (R 63). But, since this Court vacated Appellant's original death sentence and remanded the cause to the trial court for a reweighing of the valid aggravating circumstances against the mitigating evidence, Bates v. State, 465 So.2d 490,493 (Fla. 1985), as opposed to a remand for a new sentencing hearing, Appellee submits that the trial judge was not required to provide Appellant the opportunity to put on mitigating evidence and in any event was not required

to give it weight as mitigating circumstances. Mikenas v. State, 407 So.2d 892 (Fla. 1981); Mann v. State, 453 So.2d 784 (Fla. 1984).

In <u>Mikenas</u>, this Court remanded the case to the trial court for resentencing without further deliberations by a jury. The trial judge denied the defendant's Motion for Evidentiary Hearing and Advisory Sentence by Jury and subsequently resentenced him to death. On appeal to this Court, the defendant argued among other things, that the trial court erred in failing to consider and weigh evidence of statutory and non-statutory mitigating factors. This Court rejected the defendant's argument holding:

In relation to defendant's second point, defendant argues that the new testimony heard by the court was not considered properly in its findings. The testimony heard consisted of two psychologists concerning the possibility of defendant's rehabilitation and a minister concerning his alleged progress in religion. Their testimony was not considered as a mitigating factor by the court. testimony was apparently permitted by the trial court in an abundance of fairness to the defendant, but the court was not required to give it weight as a mitigating circumstance.

The facts herein are similar to those in Songer v. State, 365 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1978), cert. denied, 441 U.S. 956, 99 S.Ct. 2185, 60 L.Ed.2d 1060 (1979), a death sentence case where we remanded for resentencing because of an apparent noncompliance with guidelines announced in Gardner v. Florida, 430 U.S. 349, 97 S.Ct. 1197, 51 L.Ed.2d 393 (1977). Upon remand, the trial judge refused to

take testimony from prison inmate character witnesses. In upholding the trial court's denial of issuance of subpoena for this purpose, we stated that appellant had been afforded ample opportunity to present evidence in mitigation in the original sentencing proceeding. The same reasoning applies here.

Id. at 893,894. Taking a somewhat different posture, the defendant in Mann, claimed that the State could not present additional evidence at resentencing. This Court disagreed, holding:

Our remand directed a new sentencing proceeding, not just a reweighing. In such a proceeding both sides may, if they choose, present additional evidence. [Emphasis added.]

Id. at 786. Since this Court remanded the cause sub judice just for a reweighing, it is evident, from this Court's language in Mann and Mikenas, that Appellant should not have been permitted to put on additional mitigating evidence, but having done so, said evidence was not entitled to weight for purposes of proving up mitigating circumstances. Consequently, Appellant cannot be heard to assert as error the trial judge's alleged failure to consider evidence which he was not required to permit being put on and if puton, was not required to afford any weight.

While strenuously maintaining that <u>Mikenas</u> and <u>Mann</u> mandate affirmance of this cause, Appellee alternatively argues that Appellant's claim is without merit.

Appellant has structured his claim in terms of the trial

judge's <u>not considering</u> the evidence he put on in mitigation, evidently for the purpose of bringing this cause within the purview of <u>Lockett v. Ohio</u>, 438 U.S. 586, 98 S.Ct. 2954, 57 L.Ed.2d 973 (1978) and <u>Eddings v. Oklahoma</u>, 455 U.S. 104, 102 S.Ct. 869, 71 L.Ed.2d 1 (1982) which stand for the proposition that the State may not by statute preclude the sentencer from considering any mitigating factor, nor may the sentencer refuse to consider, as a matter of law, any relevant mitigating evidence. The instant record belies Appellant's claim.

The trial judge, after hearing the testimony of the witnesses and argument of counsel, commented:

I was a little disappointed in Dr. McMann. First of all, I think her view of the death penalty somehow colors her objectivity in the matter. Secondly, I would think that any expert in that field would want to acquaint herself thoroughly with the facts of the case, including coming and looking at the evidence introduced at trial and this sort of thing. She said she contented herself with briefs filed, certain other papers and then in talking to Mr. Bates. I would have hoped that she had made a rather thorough basis for her opinion.

(R 163). Additionally, the trial judge's written sentencing order contains the following statements:

The Court is well aware that the procedure to be followed is not a mere counting process of X number of aggravating circumstances and Y number of mitigating circumstances, but rather a reasoned judgment and weighing process as to what factual situations require

the imposition of death and which can be satisfied by life imprisonment in light of the totality of the circumstances present.

* * * * *

After studying, considering and weighing all the evidence in the case, the Court makes the following findings of fact as to the mitigating circumstances.

The Court has taken into account the testimony of the defendant and the defendant's father. The Court finds that the defendant has no significant history of prior criminal activity. The Court has considered all the possible mitigating circumstances listed under Florida Statute 921.141(6) and any others that might apply. The Court finds, however, that the testimony and circumstances do not support any other mitigating circumstances. Even if the Court determined that each mitigating factor raised by the defendant had been established, that would not outweigh the overwhelming evidence of aggravating circumstances established by the testimony in this case.

* * * * *

The Court is of the opinion that the facts suggesting a sentence of death for the commission of this murder are so clear and convincing that no reasonable person could differ. The aggravating circumstances were proved beyond a reasonable doubt and there are not sufficient mitigating circumstances to outweigh the aggravating circumstances. Therefore, the Court finds that the advisory sentence of the jury should be followed and the death sentence should be imposed upon the defendant. [Emphasis added.]

(R 39-42). Appellee submits that the foregoing record excerpts

clearly demonstrate that the trial judge considered all the mitigating evidence put on by Appellant, including the testimony of his expert, and found it qualitatively insufficient to establish any additional statutory or non-statutory mitigating circumstances. The fact that the trial judge didn't find the mitigating circumstances proposed by Appellant does not mean that he didn't consider the evidence as this Court recognized in Riley v. State, 413 So.2d 1173 (Fla. 1982), holding:

We reject Riley's contention that the trial judge failed to consider certain evidence introduced by Riley during the resentencing proceeding to demonstrate nonstatutory mitigating factors. The trial judge expressly stated that he considered all the testimony and evidence presented. Furthermore, there is no indication from the record that he limited his consideration of mitigating factors to only those which are statutorily enumerated. Because he failed to find the mitigating factors which Riley urged does not mean that he did not consider the evidence. lies within his province to decide whether a particular mitigating circumstance in sentencing is proven and the weight to be given to it. Smith v. State, 407 So.2d 894 (Fla. 1981); Lucas v. State, 376 So.2d 1149 (Fla. 1979). Here, we find no error in his decision.

Id. at 1175. Thus, it is readily apparent that Lockett v. Ohio, supra and Eddings v. Oklahoma, supra, are not involved in the disposition of this cause. At this point, the real nature of Appellant's claim comes to light. He is merely taking issue

with the weight the trial judge afforded the testimony of his expert and the trial judge's failure to find the mitigating circumstances Appellant proposed on the basis of the testimony of his expert and other witnesses who testified on his behalf. Neither of these perceived "errors" constitute grounds for reversal of this cause.

Concerning the trial judge's treatment of the testimony of Appellant's expert, Appellant makes much of the fact that her testimony, going to the statutory mitigating circumstances set forth in Florida Statutes § 921.141(6)(b) and (f), was uncontradicted (See AB 25,26). Evidently, Appellant is of the view that uncontradicted expert testimony is binding upon the trier of fact--in this case, the trial judge. Appellant is mistaken. Expert testimony, like the testimony of any witness, is not binding on the trier of fact even when that testimony is uncontradicted. The jury is free to weigh an expert's testimony and may reject it. State v. Ward, 374 So.2d 1128,1130 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979); Nettles v. State, 409 So.2d 85,88 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), pet. for rev. den., 418 So.2d 1280 (Fla. 1982); Cronin v. State, 470 So.2d 802,804 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). See also Instruction 2.04(a), Florida Standard Jury Instructions In Criminal Cases, Second Edition, which provides in pertinent "Like other witnesses, you may believe or disbelieve all or any part of an expert's testimony."

The particular expert testimony Appellant refers to as

having established the aforementioned statutory mitigating factors is the following:

- Q. Would you say that Mr. Bates was under the influence of an extreme or significant emotional disturbance?
- A. You mean at the time?
- Q. At the time.
- A. I have to say that based on what my understanding of his behavior was, the act, itself, I would have to say yes.
- Q. Would you say that the capacity of Bates to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to the conformance [sic] to the requirements of law was substantially impaired? I
- A. Yes. All of these are within a reasonable degree of psychological probability.

(R 85,86; See also AB 25,26). In essence, Appellant's expert was of the opinion that the fact that Appellant had committed the crime established the two statutory mitigating circumstances in question. Appellant should not be dismayed by the trial court's rejection of this "expert testimony" since this Court found similar logic to be flawed in Holston v. State, 208 So.2d 98 (Fla. 1968), where it held:

¹Earlier Dr. McMahon testified that "Things are either right or wrong. There's very little gray in Mr. Bates' life. Black or white; right or wrong." (R 77).

It is argued in appellant's behalf that he was a homosexual pedophile whose crimes "were bizarre because after committing homosexual acts upon youngsters of his own male gender he then took their lives." It is asserted "that no sane individual would commit a homosexual act and then kill the victim out of a sense of guilt." This is an argument we reject. The logic is obviously faulty for to follow it to conclusion would mean that the more heinous the commission of a given crime the more likelihood the perpetrator was so crazy he should be set free.

Id. at 99. See also <u>Card v. State</u>, 453 So.2d 17,24 (Fla. 1984), <u>cert. den.</u>, 105 S.Ct. 396, where this Court rejected the appellant's argument that the trial judge failed to give proper weight to a psychologist's testimony that was offered in mitigation.

As noted above, in addition to Appellant's complaints regarding the trial judge's treatment of Dr. McMahon's testimony, he challenges the trial judge's failure to find mitigating circumstances he feels were established by her testimony and the testimony of other witnesses concerning his childhood, his military record, his family background, and his performance as a trustworthy employee (See R 130-145). This Court rejected a similar claim in Porter v. State, 429 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1983), holding:

Porter contends the court erred in not finding the following as mitigating circumstances: Porter's age; his being married with two small children; no significant history of prior criminal

activity; and his employment history. There is no requirement that a court must find anything in mitigation. The only requirement is that the consideration of mitigating circumstances must not be limited to those listed in section 921.141(6), Florida Statutes (1981). What Porter really complains about here is the weight the trial court accorded the evidence Porter presented in mitigation. However, "mere disagreement with the force to be given [mitigating evidence] is an insufficient basis for challenging a sentence." Quince v. State, 414 So.2d 185,187 (Fla. 1982). [Footnote [Footnote omitted.1

Id. at 296. In so ruling, this Court noted that Porter had been allowed to put on more mitigating evidence at resentencing and concluded that the trial court did not restrict the presentation of mitigating evidence, but merely found that the evidence presented carried little or no weight in mitigation. Id. at 296. n.2. No different result should obtain here. The simple fact of the matter is that the trial judge is not obligated to find mitigating circumstances. Suarez v. State, 11 F.L.W. 1,4,5 (Fla. Dec. 19, 1985). It is within the province of the trial judge to decide whether a particular mitigating circumstance has been proven and the weight to be given it. Toole v. State, 10 F.L.W. 617,618 (Fla. Nov. 25, 1985); Smith v. State, 407 So.2d 894,901 (Fla. 1981), cert. den., 456 U.S. 984 (1982). Reversal is not warranted simply because an appellant draws a different conclusion. Stano v. State, 460 So.2d 890,894 (Fla. 1984).

Briefly summarized, Appellant was not entitled to put on new evidence in mitigation at resentencing and, even though permitted to do so, said evidence was not entitled to any weight as mitigating circumstances. Thus, Appellant's claim concerning the trial judge's alleged failure to consider mitigating evidence is totally meritless. In any event, Appellant's attempt to bring this cause within the purview of Lockett v. Ohio, supra, and Eddings v. Oklahoma, supra, was fruitless, being totally refuted by the record, and his complaints going to the trial judge's treatment of Dr. McMahon's testimony and the trial judge's failure to find certain mitigating circumstances are uncompelling and accordingly do not warrant reversal of this cause.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument and the authority cited herein, Appellant's death sentence should be affirmed.